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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF CONNECTICUT

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE
COMMISSION

Plaintiff,

V. No. 3:17€v-02064(JAM)

WESTPORT CAPITAL MARKETS LLCet
al.,

Defendants

ORDER DENYING DEFENDANTS’ MOTION FOR JUDGMENT
AS A MATTER OF LAW AND MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL

TheU.S. Securities and Exchange Commisdilaa this civil action againstVestport
Capital Markets, LLCand its owner and chief executive officer, Christopher E. McClore,
failing to comply with their disclosure obligatisrunder the Investment Advisers Athe case
has proceeded through summary judgment and trial. | granted summary judgment in tlagor of
SEC on three of its claims, and the jury at trial ruled for the SEC on the two remaaiimg. cl

Westport and McClure now move for entry of judgment as a matter of law pursuant to
Fed. R. Civ. P. 50 and, in the alternative, for a new trial pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 59. They
arguethatthetrial evidence was insufficient, that the jury verdict form was defective, that the
jury was not impartial, and that they were prejudiced by the onset of the COVID-19 pandemi
during trial. Because | conclude that there is no merit to any of these argumeihtdehywthe
motiors for judgment as a matter of lawfor a new trial.

BACKGROUND

Westport was a financial investment company #uised and invested funds on behalf
of a wide range otlients. McClure was Westport’s owner, president, and chief compliance
officer. Westport was dually registered under the securities laws as batkesidealerand an

investment adviser.
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Westport and McClure had many cliefas whom they served as investment adigse
These advisorglients paid a quarterly faéa return for Westport and McClure’s management of
their accounts to buy and se#curities consistent with the clients’ stated investment objectives
and risk tolerancalVhen acting in aimvestment adviser capacityestport andicClure were
subject to the Investment Advisers Act of 1940, 15 U.S.C. § 8fitséq This statutevas
enated “to achieve a high standard of business ethics in the securities indsEt@yV. Capital
Gains Research Bureau, In875 U.S. 180, 186 (1963).imposes on investment advisers “an
affirmative duty of utmost good faith, and full and fair disclosafrall material facts” about
their services to their clientkl. at 194(citation omitted) In particular, investment advisers must
tell their clients about “all conflicts of interest which might incline an investmenterevis
consciously or unconsciously—to render advice which [is] not disinterestieef’191-92.

The SECalleged thawWestport and McClure had a long-runnoanflict of interest that
wasneither adequately disclosed to their clierdsdisclosed to the SE@&s required
Specifically, theSEC alleged that Westport and McClure chose to invest their clients’ funds in
types of investmenthatgarneredNVestport and McClure hundreds of thousands of dollars in
income that their clients did not know about.

This meant Westport and McClure had an undisclasedict of interestthey hadan
incentive to invest their clients’ fundstinetype of investments that generatedra income for
Westport and McClure rather than in otirerestments thatould otherwse ben their cliens’
best interestsAs one of the SEC'’s trial expedsgplained it “the whole point of being an
investment adviser is that you're supposed to be providing impartial and objective trading
advice,” and “if a major part of your business and your profit and your cash flow is based on

transactions in which you have an economic interest in transaction A versus inarBatiat



runs counter to the very purpose of why a client would want to have an investment adviser in the
first place.®

There were two streams of income from thpaty sources that the SEC alleged were not
adequately disclosed to Westport clients. The &gt largestvas income from soalled
“selling dealérsyndicate offerings. Westport would buy for its own accaurdllocation of
initial public syndicaté shareofferings at a discount from the public offering price and then
resell these securities to its advisory clients aptiigic offering price, earning as it did so a
selling concession for the shathat weresold tothe cliens. Because these transactions
involvedthesale of shares to clients from Westport's qwoprietaryaccount, they were
“principal” transactions within the meaning of the securities laws and $ubjspecial
disclosure and consent rules.

The second stream of income came frortaled “12b1 fees,” which werélistribution
fees that were paid to Westpby mutual funds in conjunction wittertainmutual fund
investment@and which wereailltimately charged by the mutual fund to the investor cliehése
12b-1 fees are often avoidable: they aharged onlyor investmetns incertain share classes of a
mutual fund, such that it may be possible to purchab#esentshare class of the same mutual
fund that is not accompanied by 12ljees.

The SECfiled acomplaint including five counts. Doc. #1. Count One alleges that
Westport and McClure intentionally, knowingly, or recklessly defrauded their cliants, i
violation of section 206(1) of the Investment Advisers Act, 15 U.S.C. § 80b-6(1). Count Two
alleges that Westport and Ma@é negligently engaged in practices that operated as a fraud or

deceit on their clients, in violation of section 206(2) of the Investment AdviserdaA\tt.S.C. §

1 Doc. #135 at 52 (Tr. 544) (testimony of Marti Murray).



80b-6(2). Count Three alleges that Westport sold its advisory clients securitidgettairt
owned without disclosing to those clients its “principal” status and without obtainerg cli
consent for each transaction, in violation of section 206(3) of the Investment Adviset$ Ac
U.S.C. 8§ 80b-6(3). Count Four alleges that McClure aided and abetted Westport in the conduct
complained of in Count Three, in violation of section 209(f) of the Investment Advisers Act, 15
U.S.C. 8§ 80b-9(f). Finally, Count Five alleges that Westport and McClure willfully miaiiee
statements in their filings witthé SEC, in violation of section 207 of the Investment Advisers
Act, 15 U.S.C. 8§ 80b-7.

A. Summary judgment ruling

The SEC moved for summary judgment on all five counts, and | granted the motion in
part and denied it in pai$eeSEC v. Westport Capital Mieets LLC 408 F. Supp. 3d 9.
Conn. 2019)Because mgummary judgment ruling is necessary to understand the limited scope
of the issues that eventually went to trial, | widiscrile the summary judgment ruling in more
detail.

| grartedsummary judgment as to Counts Two, Three, and Four of the complaint. As to
Count Two (alleging that Westport and McClure had negligently engaged in a practice that
operated as a fraud or deceit on its clieritspncluded in relevant part that there was no genuine
issue of fact to show thaVestport and McClure had failed to adequately disdiosie conflict
of interest taadvisory clients and that thegtedat leasinegligently infailing to do so.As |
explained in my ruling, it was undisputttht Westport andMcClurewere afflicted witha
conflict of interest as a result of their receipsefling dealeconcessiotieesandtheir receipt of

mutual fund 12kt fees andit was likewiseundisputedhatno one at Westpo#gver had a



conversation with any of tiveclients toexplain that they were receiving tlastraincome in
connection with the management of their accouege Westpord08 F. Supp. 3d at 101.

Westport and McClureontended, however, that they lradde adequate discloswe
their receipt of extra incomgy means o$tatements &y made irregulatory forms known as
“Forms ADV,” which wereperiodicallytransmittedooth totheir clientsand to the SEC. | did not
agree. | concluded that tkeatementshey made in the Forms ADWere too vague, conditional,
and contradictory to suffice ademally adequate disclosure tifeir receipt of the extra income
and the conflict of intereshatthis engenderedd. at 104-05 (discussing scope of statements
made in Forms ADV and concludirigat “no reasonable jury could conclude that the disclosures
adequately apprised Westport and McClure’s clients of the manner and degree to which
Westport and McClure had substantial incentives to engage in transactions ¢habtnarthe
bestinterests of their clienty see also idat 106 (reiterating as to Count Two that Westport and
McClure’s disclosures “were not adequate as a matter of law”).

Having concluded that there was no genuine fact issue to show that Wstport
disclosures in § Forms ADV were legally adequate, | concluded that WesaportMcClure—at
a minimum—werenegligent when thefailed to makdegally adequate disclosures.
Notwithstanding Westport and McClure’s argument thair compliance consultanta-
compaty namedRegulatory Compliance, LLC-was to blamédor the statements made in the
Forms ADV relating teselling dealeconcession fees concluded that Westpaaind McClure
wereat least negligent under an objective reasonableness standard because Westpartis
with Regulatory Compliance—which was signed by McClure on Westport’s behalf—disavowed

the consultant’s issuance of legal advice about compliance with the secavitsesl] at 107-08.



| also concluded that Westpamd McClurecould notblameany misadwie from
Regulatory Complianctor their failure to disclose thereceipt of 12ht fees; despite Westport
and McClurés claims that a finicky trading platform impeded th&om purchasing the type of
mutual fundshareghatwould not generate 12b-1 fees, Westport and McClereawareall the
same that they were receivitgb-1fees andheyacted at least negligently in failing to disclose
thereceipt of these fees tbeiradvisory clientsld. at 108.

As to Count Three (allegintpat Westport sold its advisory clients securities that
Westport owned without disclosing to those clients its “principal” status and withtaihing
client consent for each transacfiphgranted the SEC’s motion for summary judgment, noting
that there was no dispute that Westport’s sale to its clients from its own accaelliraf dealer
shares constituted “principal” transactions and thare is not the slightest bit of evidence that
Westport secured its clientsonsento any of thesgprincipal] transactions$ Id. at 109
(emphasis added)

As to Count Four (alleging that McClure aided-aimbtted Westport's sale of securities
to clients without disclosure of Westport's “principal” status and without obtairiegt c
consent), | granted the SEC’s motion for summary judgmeletailedthe overwhelming
evidence of McClure’s intensive and personal involvement in more than 1,000 of Westport’s
conflictedselling dealetransactions, describing how Westport “gained about $650,000 in
compensation from these principal transactions, of which theslgivdre-$530,000—was
attributable to clients McClure himself personally advisédl at 109-10. In light of McClure’s
role as Westport's owner, president, and chief compliance officer, | concludéiit@iure
doubtlessly knew that neither he nor anyone at Westport was informing clients in advance of

Westporls position as a principal in these transactions,” and that “he doubtlessly knew that



neither he nor anyone at Westport ever obtained the cleontsént for Westport's
participation as a principal in tiselling dealetransactionsld. at 110.

Having granted the SEC’s motion for summary judgment as to Counts Two, Three, and
Four, lotherwise denied the SEC’s motion for summary judgment as to Counts One aafl Five
the complaintFor both counts, | concluded that genuine fact issues remained about whether
Westport and McClurbad acted with the heightensthte of mindgciente) that these counts
required the SEC to prove.

Count One alleged th&Vestportand McClure acted intentionally, knowingly, or
recklessly with respect their failure to adequately disclosieeir conflict of interest from
income thatheyreceived fronmselling dealetransactions and 12bfees.l denied summary
judgment on the ground that a genuine issue of fact remained about whether Westport and
McClurés failures to disclose wrethe product of deliberate or reckless action as distinct from
simple negligencdd. at 105-06.

Count Five alleged that Westpard McClurewillfully made false statements on forms
filed with the SEC. On one of the forms, McClure, on behalf of Westiadsely answered “no”
when asked whether Westport engaged in principal transactions with advisory?diierats
110. On another of the forms, McClure, on behalf of Westpaled tomake a required
disclosurethat Westporearnedl2b-1 fees from the sale of mutual fsiidAlthough it was

undisputed that Westport’'s denial of engaging in principal transaetiasisalse and that

2See, e.gPl. Ex. #5 at 22 (Item #8f the Form ADVfiled on September 16, 2013, answering “no” to the question
“Do you or anyrelated person . . buy securities for yourself from advisory clients, or sell securities yaumw
advisoryclients(principal transactions)qitalics in original).

3 See, e.gPl. Ex. #4 at 23 (Items 4 and 5 of Part 2B of the Form ADV not disclosing receipt ofl1f&ées) and Pl.
Ex. #144 atl78 (SECinstructions ® Part 2B of the form ADV requiring disclosure of “distribution or service
(‘trail’) fees from the sale of mutual funds.§ee alsdoc. #136 at 1724 (Tr. 905907) (McClure testimony).



Westport’'s Forms AD\MWid not refer to 12l3- fees| nonethelessoncluded that a genuine fact
issue remained whether Westpanid McClureacted willfully when falsely denying principal
transactios and omitting mention of 12bfees|d. at 110-11.

In light of my summary judgment ruling, the claims and issues for trial were signlificant
narrowed.The tial would proceed only as to Counts One and Five. And for both these counts,
the only issues in dispute related to Westpad McClures state of mind with respect the
failure to disclose conflistof interest to client¢Count One) andith respect tahe false
statemerd and missions in filings made witthe SEC(Count Five).

B. The trial evidence

| will start bysummariing the man body of the SEC’s case which was focused on
showingscienterby means of circumstantialidenceconcerningvicClure’s dealings with some
of his clients his investment patterns, and the extent to whehndWestport profited from
engaging in selling dealer transactions and fromIL&kes. Then | will describe evidence
bearing on the various counterargumentsaefdnses raised by Westport and McClure at trial.

1. The SEC’s casén-chief

Much of the SEC'’s evidence included testimony frtbneeof Westport’'s advisory
clients(Henry Atterbury Ill, Amy Holzman, and Carolyn PinchevsiWjjose accounts were
personallymanagedy McClure These witnessetestified thatheyagreed at McClure’s
suggestion to convert their accounts from a braleater arrangement todéscretionary
advisory client arrangement and that McClure would manage their accounts condgréative

their many personal conversations WikClure, theyeachtestifiedhenever advised them that

4See, e.gDoc. #133 at 1147, 12022, 13633 (Tr. 11417,120-22, 13033) (Pinchevsky re Stein account); Doc.
#133 at 21115 (Tr. 21215) (Holzman re Stein account); Doc. #135 at-108, 12621, 143145 (Tr. 595602, 612
13, 635637) (Atterbury re Atterbury account).



Wedportwasengaged in principal transactions with their accoantgherwiseearningary
additional income from theay he managetheir accounts in addition to the quarterly advisory
fees they paid. These witnessealso denied knowing from any thfe boilerplate language ithe
Forms ADVthat Westport would earn additional money fronirthecounts® The SEC proved
thatMcClure used these three accodnisn 2012 to 2015 tearnmore than $200,000 from
selling dealefees—anincome gairthatwas nearly as much &¥estportseparatelyarned from
theclients paymentsn quarterlyadvisory fee during the same time periéd

Beyond these theeclients the SECshowed without contradiction that Westport and
McClure invested dozens of their advisory clientsdares of selling dealefferingsinvolving
principal transactions, generating more incdaha wasot disclosed to the clients. According to
the SEC'’s principal expert (Marti Murrayhese selling dealéransactionsn more than 150
different companiemost often involved shares that had no credit radtragl or that were rated
as “junk” or below-investment-grade quality; only 7.6%heseselling dealepfferings

involved investrentgrade securitie$ Moreover,McClure often engaged in these transactions

5> See, e.gDoc. #133 at 1118, 120 (Tr. 11718, 120) (Pinchevsky re Stein account); Doc. #133 at 216, 221, 225,
22830, 23233 (Tr. 216, 221, 225, 2280, 23233) (Holzman re Stein account); Doc. #134 alBATr. 275278)
(Holzman re Stein account); Doc. #135 at 101,-14,1154 (Tr. 593, 66806, 646) (Atterbury re Atterbury
account)see alsdoc. #135 at 1334 (McClure testimony stating he did not recall verbally telling any clients
about income to Westport from selling dealer offerings).

6 See. e.g.Doc. #133 at 1988 (Tr. 19798) (Pincheviy re Stein account).

" See, e.g.Pl. Ex.167d (showing $87,129 ®elling dealeincome compared to $131,483 in advisory feeEkiate
of Sylvia Stein account from May 2018roughMarch 2015)PI. Ex. 167e (showing $77,028selling dealer
income corpared to 81,756in advisory fees foHC Atterburyaccount fromJune2012 throughJune2015; PI. Ex.
167f (showing $57,55t selling dealeincome compared td5%,073in advisory fees for Joan Atterbuagcount
from June2012 throughJune2015.

8 pI. Ex. 168; Doc. #135 at 5%1 (Tr. 55153) Murray testimony re Pl. Ex. 168bsee alsdoc. #134 at 139, 185
86 (Tr. 392, 4389) (testimony re prospectus for Fifth Street Senior Floating Rate Corp. rainigwas “junk” or
“below-investmerigrade” quiity and “predominantly speculative” and that was purchased by McClure for the
Atterbury account notwithstanding client investment objectives that did not inclucidatpe investments).

Defendants called an expert witness, Elliot Server, to offer opinion testitanltClure’s choice of investments
(continued...)



within minutes of being advised of the availability of syndicated shares, suggestitigethat
decision was mad® investhis clients in these offeringgithout adequate researahd analysis
of the quality of these investmerfts.

The SEC's evidence shows#thtfrom 2012 to 2015 Westport generated about $550,000
in net income fronits sales of syndicated selling deabares to its advisory clients; thias
income above and beyond the approximate $1.1 million that Westport charged these clients in
advisory fees during the same time peridtore than 1,000 aheseselling dealetransactions
were engaged ifor advisory clients undeévicClure’spersonal managemett.

In addition,McClure personallyreceiveddistributions of nearly $550,000 from 2012 to
2015 as a result of the income generated by Westport from its saling dealeroffering
shares to its advisory client8All in all, as SEC expert Marti Murrayestified, “the profit from
the selling dealeofferings increased Westport’s net income by 50 percent, increased Westport’s
cash flav from operations by 45 percent, and increased the distributions that Mr. McClure was
able to take out of Westport by 45 percerit&nd beyondall thisincome earned by Westport
and McClurefrom selling dealer offerings, Westport earned more than $105,000 froml 1&s

charged tdts advsory clientsfor their mutual fund investment§.

was reasonable in light of modern portfolio principles of diversification of imersts and that the choice of
investments in the Atterbury and Stein accounts was consistent with the dtated’ investent objectives. Doc.
#136 at 20835, 250 (Tr. 9388, 983).0f course, it was for the jugnd not me to decide which of the competing
experts to credit

9 See, e.gDoc. #133 at 90 (Tr. 90) (12 minutes); Doc. #589798 (Tr. 9798) (4 minutes); Doc#135 at 6364
(Tr. 55556) (noting “very short period of time” for investment decisions in selling deékings).

0P|, Ex. 168f;see alsdoc. #135 at 558 (Tr. 54950) (admitting and discussing this exhibit).
1P|, Ex. 167asee alsdoc. #134 aR01-03 (Tr. 45456) (admitting and discussing Pl. Ex. 167a).
12p|, Ex. 168f;see alsdoc. #135 at 5568 (Tr. 54950) (admitting and discussing this exhibit).

B Doc. #135 at 558 (Tr. 54950) (Murray); Pl. Ex. 168f.

1P|, Ex. 167msee alsdoc. #136 at 194 (Tr. 927) (McClure).
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2. The counterarguments andefenses

Westport and McClure raised variodsfenses andrguments to counter the SEC’s
claims that they actedhtentionaly or reckles$y in failing to disclose their conflict of interest to
their clients (Count One) aridatthey acted willfully when thefalsely statedntheir Forms
ADV that they did not engage in principal transactions and wherothiied disclosure of their
receipt d 12b-1 fees (Count Fivekpecifically, Westport and McClure raised the following
arguments and lines of defense: (1) that they relied in good faith on mistaken advice from
Regulatory Complianc€?2) that thdimited disclosures they made in the Forms ADV suggested
a lack of intent to mislead; (3) that they had an innocent misunderstanding about whather thei
selling dealer transactions constituted “principal” transactions that mustdbesed on their
Forms ADV; and (4) that they faced technical obsmainpeding their ability to invest in mutual
funds that did not generate 12bees. | will review the evidence relating to each of these
arguments and defenses in turn.

a. Defense of reliance on compliance consultant

Westport and McClure argued that they relied in good faith on advice and guidance from
Regulatory Compliance. McClure testified that he spoke by telephone in@@ldompliance
analyst at Rgulatory Compliance named Ben Mascolo and that he “explained, A to Z, what we
were contemplating” Wit respect to syndicate offeringsAlthough McClure didittle to
elaborateon what he told Mascolo in this telephone conversaltm@lure testified that Mascolo

told him that “we could do” the syndicate transactions but “we had to put some language in o

% Doc. #135 at 212 (Tr. 704) (McClure).
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ADV in order to do it.*® Then, in a follow-up email exchange, Mascolo proposed the disclosure
language that Westport ended up adopting for its Forms ADV.

Mascolowas replaced by Lori Weston as Westport's account representative at
Regulatory Compliance in 2012, and it was not until mid-2015 when Weston advised McClure
that she believed that the selling dealterings constituted principal transactions that would
have to be reported on the Forms ABAAccording to McClure, he was “shocked” by this news
because it was contrary to whRégulatory Compliance had led him to believe since 2811.
McClure testified that this led in turn to Westport's consultation wotmeel and self-disclosure
by Westport of its conduct to regulatory authorifies.

The SEC disputeicClure’sclaim thathe reasonably relied on any advice from
Regulatory Compliance. On crosgaminatiorby the SEC, McClure conceded that he had “no
specfic recollection of ever discussing with anyone at Regulatory Compliance thghohtess
advisory clients were payg 12b-1 fees on their mutual fund holding$Thus as an initial
matter,it was undisputed that Westport and McClure’s defense with respect to Regulatory
Compliance was at mosfpartial defense: it related solely to Westpand McClure’s conflict
of interest and false statements with respetiiéselling dealeprincipal transactions and not to

receipt of 12b-1 fees.

%1d. at 213 (Tr. 705).

71d. at 21415, 22623 (Tr. 70607, 712715); Def. Exs. 509, 629a.
8 Doc. #135 at 2333 (Tr. 724725); Doc. #136 at 1124 (Tr. 84547).
19 Doc. #136 at 112 (Tr. 845).

20Doc. #136 at 115, 118 (Tr. 848, 851).

21 Doc. #136 at 19495 (Tr. 92728).
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The SEC's crosexamination of McCluralsotried to showthe limits of what McClure
claimed to have told Regulatory Compliance with respetitdeelling dealetransactions.
McClure admitted that he never told Regulatory Compliance that he was “personakkingm
an addional $500,000 from buying selling dealer offerings in [his] advisory clients’
accounts.?? McClure alscadmitted that he did not memorialize in writing what he told
Regulatory Compliancé In addition, McClure admitted on cross-examination Yhastport’s
follow-up email with Mascolo after McClure’s telephone conversation with dMastid not
disclose Westport’'s capacity as a principal as “part of a selling group” for theaimehare
offerings, referring only to “commissidmsed compensatio@hdwithout “telling [Mascolo]
that Westport’s getting paid as part of the selling pri¢e.”

The SEC also calledori Westonto testify in its rebuttal case. Weston testifigtat she
immediatelyflagged a concern about Westport's engaging in principal transactions when this
wasfirst disclosed to her by McClure in 2015 and that she was not otherwise privy to Westport’s
trading records or the amount of money that Westport was making from sehileg de
transactiong® Weston also reviewed the terms of Regulatory Compliance’s contract with
Westport, whichstatedn relevant part thatRegulatory Compliance does not render any legal or

financial advice relating to incorporation, compliance with securities laves)yoother advice of

22Doc. #136 at 95 (Tr. 928);see alsdoc. #136 at 197 (Tr. 930) (McClure’s agreement that he “didn’t tell the
people from whom [he] got investment advisory advice [at Regulatory Compliancelthéaize or scope of [his]
selling dealer offering practices”).

23Doc. #136 at 20D2 (Tr. 93435).
24Doc. #136 at 204Tr. 937)(testimony re Pl. Ex. 140).
25Doc. #137 at 246, 3132, 37, 40(Tr. 10361032, 103738, 1043, 1046)
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a legal or financial nature,” and that “[t]he client should refer to legal or fiabo@unsel for
such advicé 2

| instrucedthe jury with respect to Westport’s claim of reliance on advice from
Regulatory Complianc.| told the jury that “[g]ood faith on the part of a defendant is a defense
to the SEC’s claims.” Doc. #125 at 12. | then instructed the jury at lengthtwhast consider
in deciding whether Westport’s reliance on advice from Regulatory Compli@gated the
SEC’sclaims that Westport acted intentionally, recklessly, or willfully

You have heard evidence at trial about the defendants’ relationship with a
compliance consulting firm known as Regulatory Compliance, and you may
consider these dealings aindeciding whether the SEC has proven its claims.
Merely the fact that the defendants consulted with Regulatory Compliance does
not alone establish that they acted in good faith. Nor does the fact that they
consulted with Regulatory Compliance establish good faith if they did not make
full disclosure to Regulatory Compliance or if they did not follow the advice
receivedirom Regulatory Compliance. Thus, you may conclude that Westport
and Mr. McClure relied in good faith on the advice of Regulatory Congdian

only under the following circumstances:

(1)  That before they took the relevant action, Westport and Mr.
McClure sought advice in good faith from Regulatory Compliance
with the belief that Regulatory Compliance was a competent
professional to furnish advice concerning the legality of their
conduct,

(2)  That Westport and Mr. McClure made a complete disclosure to
Regulatory Compliance of all the relevant facts known to them at
the time,

(3)  That Westport and Mr. McClure received actual advice from
Regulatory Compliance that their conduct complied with the law,
and

(4) That Westport and Mr. McClure followed the advice they were
given by Regulatory Compliance in good faith.

If these four factors are satisfied, you may consider Westport and Mr. McClure’s
reliance on Regulatory Compliance in determining whether they acted in good
faith. But even if these four factors are satisfied, you do not need to necessarily
conclude solely on this basis that they acted in good faith. Instead, you should
consider all of the evidence before you before making your ultimate

26 Doc. #137 at 39 (Tr. 1045) (quoting PIl. Ex. 152).

27 Prior to trial | denied the SEC’s motion to preclude Westport and McClure fromdiefeon grounds of their
reliance on a compliance consultadeeSEC v. Westport Capital Markets LLQ020 WL 948434 (D. Conn. 2020).
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determination whether the SEC has proved that the defendants did not act in good
faith.28

b. Defense of partial disclosure on Forms ADV

Although I granted summary judgment against Westport and McClure on the issue of
whether their statements in the Forms ADV adequately disclosed their @&ceigbme to
satisfy the Investment Advisers Act, the disclosures that they made in the Abkmsere
nonetheless admitted at trtal allow Westport to argue thab the extent Westport at least made
limited disclosures in the Forms ADV, thdsguited disclosure weighed against a conclusion
that Westport’s failure to make an adequate disclosurentexgtional or reckless. Thus, |
instructed the jury that “there is no dispute for purposes of this trial that theeeasaslict of
interes and that any disclosures that Westport and McClure made to their clients about the
conflict of interest were ndegally adequate,” but that “[a]lthough Westport and Mr. McClure
did not make adequate disclosurtkgre is some evidence that they made statements to clients in
the Forms ADV, and you may consider the nature and scope staeynets or discloares that
they did make in the Forms ADV when deciding whether their failure to make adequate
disclosures was intentional or reckless.” Doc. #125 at 9-10.

The Forms ADV sent to Westport’s clients and the SEC between 2012 and 2015
contained the following language (or very similar language)—Ilanguage that | found in my
summary judgment ruling was too vague, conditional, and contradictory to discharge Westport
and McClure’s disclosure obligations:

Where the firm is dually registered as an investment adviser and loledder-and

licensed to sell various forms of insurance, firm personnel may receive additional

commissioAbased compensation for their work on behalf of the firm. Sales of

insurance, mutual funds, initial public offerings (to qualified clients), bonds, and
other offerings may result in a commissand/or incentive/performandssed fee

28Doc. #125 at 124.
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which is paid in addition to the advisory fee. Where the receipt of commission and

feebased compensation can create a conflict of interest, clients should note that

they are under no obligation to pursue such investment offerings through Westport.

The firm will not offer investments that give the sales opportunity more importance

than that of a client’s individual investment needs. However, clients should note

that the receipt of commission and/or incentivased compensation in addition to

the advisory fee can create a conflict of interest. Questions regarding trseféies’

and/or its advisory/brokerage services may be addressed directly with t{& firm.
Westportand McClurehad a full opportunity at trial to argue to the jury that the fact tteyt
made these disclosures in the Forms ADV was better than if they had madelasude at all
and that the partial disclosures weighed against concludingMbsatportand McClureacted
intentionally or recklessly in derogationtbieir clients’ rights and interests.

c. Defenseas to false statemesitdenying principal transactions

Westport and McClure did not contest at trial thairteelling dealetrans&tionswith
their clientsconstituted “principal” transactions for purposes of the Investment Adviser§ Act
Nor did they contest that the answers that McClure provided on Forms ADV stating that
Westport did not participate in principal transactions w#tadvisory clients were falsBut

bothMcClure and his chief assistant, Marissa Maher, testified that these ansnersotve

willfully false because theid not understand at the timéthese transacti@ifrom 2012 to

22P|, Ex. 2 at 3 (admitted at Doc. #135 at 83 (Tr. 57&g)ordPl. Ex. 4 at 3 (admitted at Doc. #135 dt(gr.

576)); Def. Ex. 545A at 3(admitted at Doc. #133 at 154 (Tr. 154) and read into the trial transdript,162)In
2013, Westport used slightly different language in the above paragraph, which notabgddhéttvord “can”
before “create a conflict of interestRéceipt of both commission and fbasedcompensation create a conflict of
interest, as this practice gives the firm and its supervised persons an inttergis@mmend products basadthe
compensation received, rather than on a client’s needs. The firm and its segh@esisons have a fiduciary
obligation to act in the bestterest of the firm’s clients. Further, clients should note that they are nade
obligation to pursue sudhvestment offerings through Westpdiel. Ex. 6 at3 (reproduced at Doc. #434 at 3;
admitted into evidence at Doc. #135 at 84 (Tr. 5k alsd®l. Ex. 9 (admitted into evidence at Doc. #135%t 8
(Tr. 577)).

30 As one of the SEC experts testified without contradiction, the selling dealengffevere “principal trades”
because “Westport purchasedda seller dealing offerings into their proprietary trading accourdnd then they
were sold from Westport's account to the advisory clients.” Doc. #135(d@r5343)(Murray).
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2015thatthey wereprincipal transactiongn essence, they claiméuhat they thought that these
transactions did not qualify as principednsactiondecause Westposbld the shares to their
clients at the publioffering price and did not mark up the pradgovewhat members ahe
public would otherwise paj*

In response, the SEC introduced evidence to counterl#ims that McClure or Westport
did not understandt the time hat these transactions wenencipal tradesThe SEC called as a
witnessEric Lawtonwho had worked as a broker with Westport from 2013 to 2018estidied
that while he was workintherehe invested some of his clientsselling dealeofferings and
understood that they qualified as principal trades because they involved Westport'sgofcha
the securities for its own account that were thesotd for a higher price to the clieftHe
testified that he spoke with McClure about the fact that these types of transa&ieriadeed
principal trades’

The SECintroduced additional evidence to cast doubthenclaims oMcClureand
Maherthat they did not believe that the selling dealer transactions involved principal frades
SEC pointed to how McCluieidiosyncratic understanding of the meaning of a principal trade

wascontrary tathe simple definition of a “principalrade” in Westport's own compliance

31 Doc. #134 at 157, 19(ITr. 410, 444 Maher testimony that because price difference was called a “concession”
and “[w]edo not make the determination of the markup or markdown” the transaction was not ggrinci
transaction”); Doc. #135 at 185/ (Tr. 65759) (McClure testimony that he did not consider selling dealer
transactions to be “principal trades” becatlsprice wa not marked up abovke public price) Doc. #135 ap29
30(Tr. 721-:22) (McClure testimony that when he answered “No” on the SEC form that asked “Doesryour f
engage in principal transactions with clients?” “[w]e didn’t believe weavere doing prinipal transactions at this
point”); Doc. #136 at 86Tr. 819)(McClure testimony that these were not principal transactions because “[m]y
definition of a principal transaction always has been you have the ability totafenarkup” and that “[t]hese new
stock offerings did not give me that ability”).

32Doc. #134 at 768 (Tr. 32931).
33Doc. #134 at 8B4 (Tr. 33437).
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manual** McClure’s claimed understandingas alsocontrary tathe fact thatontemporaneous
trading confirmation slipfor theselling dealetransactions reflected that they were principal
transactions® His claimed misunderstanding walsocontrary tothe fact thaiVestport’s
agreement with the firm that channeled these setlegjer offemgs to them expressly described
the transactions as “principal” transactigh#nd his claimed misunderstandimgascontrary to
his own contemporaneous description of¢bling dealetransactions when he was applying for
an insurance policy in July 2013 acalled thent'principal” transactions’

In addition,the SECsuggestethat theclaimed misunderstanding of tdefinition of a
“principal transactionivas contrary to the plain language of the SEC form in which McClure
falsely claimed that Westpadid not engage in principal transactions. Under a heading for
“Proprietary Interest in Client Transactions,” McClure answered “No”eéddHowing query:

“Do you or anyrelated person... sell securities you own to advisarlyents(principal
transaction)”*® The SECcontended that the wording of this question left no doubt that the
simplesale by Westport of securities from its own account to advisory clients comsttute
principal transactionwithout regard to whethéne transaction entailéifestport chargings
client a markup above the public offering price.

d. Defense as to 12bfees

34 Doc. #135 at 54Tr. 546)(Murray).

35 Doc. #134 afl54-59 (Tr. 407-12) (Mahertestimony referring to Def. Ex. 542 (admitted at Doc. #134 at 153 (Tr.
406)).

36 Doc. #136 at 156Tr. 887)(McClure); PI. Ex. 20.

37 Doc. #134 at 169Tr. 422) PI. Ex. #37 (statement by McClure in email of July 10, 2013, that Westpwtisie
from “selling group participation” was “when we participate and get paid on dpairmasis (the fee is part of the
selling price).).

38 Doc. #134 at 1775 (Tr. 42528) (Maher); Pl. Ex. 1 at 20 (Form ADV, Item 8) (Feb. 9, 20(ifa)icsin original).
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As to the receipt of 12b-1 fees, Westport and McClugeied that the fees were
unavoidable because thegmbeholden to aumbersomérading platorm that made it difficult
for Westport to buy classes of mutual fund shares that would be exempt frahfde-The
SEC, however, countered this argument in various ways. Eiistl. awton (who hadvorked
with McClureas a broker at Westpotgstified about how it was possible to invest client funds
in share classes of mutual funds that didgesterate 124 fees, how it was an advise
fiduciary duty of “best execution” to do so if it possible, and how he spoke with McClure about
this issue®® Lawton acknowledged that the JP Morgan trading platform was cumbersorhe, but
testified thatMcClure told him it was possible to call the JP Morgan trading desk for assistance
to make it possible to buy mutual fund shares not subject tofé2sand that Lawon was
successful in doing s8.

Moreover,the SECS evidence showed that Westport transitioned in April 2015 to a
different trading platform managed by anotbempany (National Financial Services) that did
not pose the same technical obstaaeshe JP Morgan platforfh The SEC showed, however,
that even after this transition, McClure admitted that he failed to transfer his'areniual
funds that were generating 12lfees to a class that would not generate IL#es and that he

did not systemically transfer his clients’ accounts away from nontif2kepaying shares until

39 Doc. #134 at 3-45, 48-49, 7375(Tr. 29698, D1-02, 32628); see alsdoc. #135 at 780 (Tr. 571-72)
(Murray); PI. Ex. 169 (1 (e)) (joint stipulation of facts stating that “img]enutual funds offer an ‘institutional share
class’ or an ‘advisory share class’ in which investors do not pay, and {ole&lers do not receive, a 12lee”).

40Doc. #134 at 553, 7672, 90-94 (Tr. 30406, 32325, 343347).

41 Doc. #134 at 985 (Tr. 34748) (Lawton); Doc. #136 at 1091 (Tr. 84244) (McClure); PIl. Ex. 169 (11 i)
(joint stipulation of facts explaining how Westport had ready access after Apsiltt@@lasses of mutual funds that
did not assess 12bfees and also how “Westport had the capability to exclude assets held in it atieigory
accounts from the calculation of the advisory fee”).
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more than two years later in October 2@t The brink of the onset of this litigam.*> All in all,
nearly half of the 12l-fees that werearned by Westport occurred after Westport had switched
to a trading platform that Westport conceded posed no obstacles to the investment in share
classes of mutual funds not subject to 12ees?

C. The jury verdict

The jury ruled across-the-board in favor of the SEC and against Westport and McClure.
The jury instructions reviewed each of the elements of Counts One and Five but told thatjury
only those elements bearing on the issuscarier were in dispute. With respect to those
disputel elementsthe jury concluded as to Count One that both Westport and McClure
intentionally or recklessly failed to make the required disclosure of compeméatm selling
dealer offerings and compensation from I2fees?* Similarly, the jury concluded as to Count
Five thatwhen Westport and McClufanswered ‘no’ in Part | of the Forms ADV to a question
whether Westport engaged in principal transactions with its advisory clientd,dttieso
knowing that the answer was untrif€ And the jury concluded as to Count Five that when
Westport and McClure “failed to disclose the receipt of 12b-1 fees from thefsalgual funds
on its Forms ADV, [they] did so knowing that [they weogjitting information that was

required to be disclosed®

42Doc. #136 at 186, 1891 (Tr. 919, 92224).

43 SeePl. Ex. 1&m (showing that more than p@rcenbf the 12b1 fees Westport earnedere attributable to the
purchase of mutual funds that halternativenon-12b-1 feecharging share classes and tadut40 percentof the
12b-1 fees earned by Westport acatwadter Westport's conversion to the National Financial Services platfeem)
alsoDoc. #134 at 2333 (Tr. 48586) (testimonyof SEC expert Jan Jindra this exhibit).

44Doc. #1211 at 12.
451d. at 23.
461d. at 3.
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DiscussIoN

Westport and McClure move for judgment as a matter of law under Fed. R. Civ. P. 50
andalternativelyfor a new trial under Fed. R. Civ. P. 59. Doc. #143. Under Rule 50, a motion
for judgment as a matter of laway be granted only if “a reasonable jury [did] not have a legally
sufficient evidentiary basis to find for the party” that prevailed at trial. Re@iv. P. 50(a)(1).

A party seeking judgment on this basis bears a “heavy burden,” and will succeed only if “the
evidence is such that, without weighing the credibility of the witnesses or othemmisielering

the weight of the evidence, there can be but one conclusion as to the verdict that reasonabl
[persons] could have reachetfatusick v. Erie Cnty. Water Auftr57 F.3d 31, 52 (2d Cir.
2014)(internal quotations omitted) must “consider the evidence in the light most favorable to
the party against whom the motion was made and ... give that party the benefit of all reasonabl
inferences that the jury might have drawn in his favor from the evidehaees v. Treubig963

F.3d 214, 224 (2d Cir. 2020nternal quotations omittedMoreover, ft|he court cannot assess

the weight of conflicting evidence, pass on the credibilitthefwitnesses, or substitute its
judgment for that of the jury, and must disregard all evidence favorable to the moving party that
the jury is not required to believdNG Glob. v. United Parcel Serv. Oasis Supply Corp7

F.3d 92, 97 (2d Cir. 2014internal quotations omitted

Rule 59(a) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure more broadly allows a cguanta
new trial “for any reason for which a new trial has heretofore been granted incemaaidaw in
federal court.’Fed. R. Civ. P. %a)(1)(A). When evaluating a Rule 59 motion for new traal,

judge “may weigh the evidence and the credibility of withesses and need not view tineevide

47n light of my conclusion that defendants have not met the ordinary standard for thef gréile 50 motion, |
need not address the SEC’s argument (Doc. #148ptl At a more demanding standard should apply in light of the
failure of Westport and McClure to renew their Rule 50 motion at the cloke dkfense case.
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in the light most favorable to the verdict winneRéedle v. Credit Agricole Indosy&70 F.3d
411, 418 (2d Cir. 2012) (citation omitted). Still, the Second Circuit has emphé#siéttial
judges must exercigbeir ability to weigh credibility with caution and great restraint, as a judge
should rarely disturb a jury’s evaluation of a witnesg'edibility, and may not freely substitute
his or her assessment of the credibility of witnesses for that of thanuyplysecause the judge
disagrees with the jury/Ibid. (internal quotations and citatioogitted). A trial court should
not grant a motion for a new trial unless it is convinced that the jury ... reached a seriously
erroneous result or that the verdga miscarriage of justiceAli v. Kipp, 891 F.3d 59, 64 (2d
Cir. 2018)(internal quotations omitted).

Westport and McClure seek judgment as a matter of law or a new trial on four grounds:
(1) that “there was insufficient evidence uponigtareasonable jury could conclude that
Defendants acted with scienter or made willfully false statements”; (2) thate'signdof the
jury verdict form—reflecting the Court’s prior determination on the prior majorithef t
elements of each of the two sections charge@s prejudi@l because it suggested to fhey
that the case was largely decided”; (3) that “a letter written to the SEC folloverngeahby
‘Juror Number Five’ displayed the jury’s clear bias against Defendants which dy\adfseted
the jury’s deliberation anan its face, reveals a miscarriage of justice”; and (4) that “the
outbreak of a global pandemic, the news of which was unfolding rapidly during the course of the
trial and which resulted in the partial closing of the courthouse during jury deliberations
deprived Defendants of their right to a fair trial.” Doc. #143-1 at 2. | will addeedsagument
in turn.

A. Sufficiency of evidence dfcienter
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Westport and McClure argue that the evidencec@nterwas insufficient in light of
their reliancan good faith on Regulatory Compliandbe scope of the disclosures they made on
the Forms ADV and their prompt self-disclosure to regulatory authoritienid-2015 after Lori
Weston at Regulatory Compliance alerted McClure that Westport was engagedipaprin
transactions that must be reported to the SEC. Doc. #143-1 at¥Babviewing the evidence
as | must in the light most favorable to the SEC, | concludetibavidence was easily
sufficient for a jury to conclude that both Westport and McClure acted intentionadigldessly
in failing to adequately disclose their conflicts of interest to their dieandl that they acted
willfully in falsely claimingto the SEC that they did not engage in principal transactions and in
failing to disclose to the SEC their receipt of 1Pkees.

The evidence showed that Westport and McClure pervasively engaged in conflicted
selling dealer and 12bfee transactions for several years and thaté¢heyed hundreds of
thousands of dollars from doing so. These undisclosed earnings amounted to giesoéBOf
what theyotherwiseearned from their clients’ payment of advisory feleseasonable jury could
have concluded that thigrgeof a financial gairdid not happen by acciden&rd that the size
of the gainwasa powerful motive for Westport andd@lureto intentionally or recklessly keep
their clients and the SEC in the dark about how they were earning this money. Moreover, in light

of theevidence thaMcClure was under instructions froohientsAtterbury, Holzman, and

48 To the extent that Westport and McClure appear to dispute the issue and elemeatiefjtteey of their
disclosures to clients and the SEC, | decided this issue and element agairattttteesummary judgment stage of
this litigation, and it was not submitted as an open issue for resolution by the yri&hjany event, the trial
evidence confirmed my summary judgment conclusion that there was no genuine fatct sémve that Wetport

and McClure’s statements in their Forms ADV were legally adequate to adeiiselignts of the conflict of

interest. | have already denied Westport and McClure’'s motion to reconsider ngyanlsummary judgment, Doc.
#102, and—in the absence @y intervening change in law or faettheir posttrial Rule 50 and Rule 59 motions
are not appropriate vehicles for them to seek to relitigate issues long decinhestl thgan at the summary judgment
stage of this action.
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Pinchevsky tanvest theirmoney conservativg, the jury couldvell have concluded that the
decision of Westport and McClure to invest a large proportion of tiesgs’ accounts in

mostly speculative and unrated selling dealer offerings reflected Westport &idrés
intentioral or reckless decision to place their personal and undisclosed pecuniary inberests a
their clients’ stated investment preferences.

As for Westport and McClure’slaim of reliance on Regulatory Compliantiegre was
plenty ofevidenceor the pry to have concludetthatthey did not rely in good faith—if they
indeed relied at alF-or the most part, Westport and McClure’s post-argument mationsy
repeat the arguments that they made to the jury about Regulatory Compliance and that the jur
plainly did not find persuasive. The jury’s conclusion is hardly surprising in view of the
threadbare corroboration that McClure offered for his claim that he fullyodesgl(“A to Z”) his
selling dealer activities to Regulatory Compliareeewell as in view offiis contract with
Regulatory Compliancthatexpressly disavowed the consultant’s issuance of legal advice about
compliance with the securities laws

As to the jury’s findings with respect to the 12beesthere was no evidence at tiht
Westportor McCluretold Regulatory Compliance about this stream of undisclosed income or
sought advice from Regulatory Compliance about disclosure ol 1@bs.Because Westport
and McClure could not plausibly blame their misconduct with respect to 12b-1 fees on
Regulatory Compliance, this was all the more reason for the jury to doubt the rest of their
relianceon-complianceconsultantdefense.

Nor was there any miscarriage of justice with respect to the jury’s conclasion t
Westport and McClure acted willfully when they falsely claimed on their F&dD\é that they

did not engage in principal transactions with their advisory clients. Débpitdaims of
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McClureand Mahethatthey misunderstood at the time what constitutes a principal transaction,
a reasonable jury coulthve creditedhemany reasons described abdéwa@loubt this clairad
misunderstandinglhe evidence was sufficient for a reasonable jargonclude that both
Westport and McClure not only knew what constitutespertableprincipal transactiobut also
that theywillfully lied to the SEC so that they could continue to engagleasemmensely
profitabletransactionsvithout having to worry about seeking their clients’ informed consent
alerting the SEG@bout their conflict of interest.

Because the evidence was sufficient for the jury to rule in the SEC’s favordispaited
issues okcienter | will not grant the Rule 50 motion for judgmeag a matter of lawn
addition, in light of the SEC’s highly convincing evidentiary showmgs casen-chief and in
response to the arguments raised by Westport a@lve | concludethere was noniscarriage
of justiceto allow for the grant of the Rule 59 motion for a new trial.

B. Design of jury verdict form

Westport and McClure complain that the jury verdict form “wasrpagked with
checkmarks indicating that all but one issue had already been decided against Defdhalants.
#143-1 at 24. But Westport and McClure never objected to the jury verdict form on this ground
or to the jury instructions which explained that, because certain elements wespnttdifor
purposes of trial, the verdict form was already gineeked as to those elementecD#137 at 74
(Tr. 1080). Westport and McClure advised the Court and the SEC that they had no objections to
the verdict form. Doc. #145 at 19. Accordingly, | conclude that Westport and McClure have
waived any such objectioff. Smith v. Lightning Bolt Prods., In@61 F.2d 363, 370-71 (2d
Cir. 1988) (parties have “no standing” to object on appeal to special verdict questions to which

they did not object at trial).
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Nor do Westport and McClure show that they were prejudiced by the design of the jury
verdict form. Except for the issue of the legal adequacy of their disclosures (s
conclusively decided against them at the summary judgment stage of this action), they go not sa
that they wished to dispute (or that there were any non-frivolous grounds to dispute) any of the
other elements at issue. Instead, they claithout morethat “[h]ad the form been configured
differently, it may well have produced a different result.” Doc. #148-24. Because Westport
and McClure waivedheir objection and have not made any showing of prejutregect their
claim that the design of the jury verdict form warrants a grant of judgment in theirdiaa new
trial.

C. Juror misconduct

Westport and McClure seek a new trial on the ground of juror miscoidustlaim
ress on a congratulatory and gossipy handwritten letter that one of the jurors sent to one of the
SEC'’s trialattorneysabout a week after the jury returned its verdict. The lettec.(Bb38)reads
as follows:

March 24, 2020
Dear Attorney Shields,

| just wanted to send a quick note of thanks and congratulations.
Thanks for your public service as an SEC lawyer and
congratulations on winning the SEC v. McClure and Westport
Capital.

| was juror #5. The case was fascinating in many ways. From the
very beginning of jury selection to the very end and “guilty!”

| loved watching you andtg Moran craft your case and build your
evidence.Fascinating. Your expert withesses (Murray + Jihdra
were rije]ting. The efense didn’t have a chance.

I’'m following the case on the SEC website for the final sentence.
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Here’s an aside you might find interesting. During our deliberations
we spoke of many things and McClure’s wife came up. She looked
like she should have been at the Country Club plagindge. Her
appearance came up and one of the jurors (who was a store manager
at Macy’s in West Iftd) asked if anyone noticed her shedsdid!

The manager told us they cost $3000 a.@irch! You might pass

that on to defense attorneys you know.

All my best to you and attorney Moran in the future.
Sincerely,
Juror #5

P.S. I happened to watch Ms. McCle face when the GUILTY
verdict was read-I'll never forget! She was gutteahd horrified.
Her soul imploded. It was her husband[’]s fault without a doubt.

According to Westport and McClure, “[tlhe contents of the letter demonstrateitbat J
#5 concealed his strong bias for the government, that the jurors discussed extraneous and
inappropriate matters while deliberating and that Defendants were pre|jlgitiee jurys
consideration of Mr. McClure’s perceived wealth and lifestyle.” Doc. #143-1 at 25. Tihey a
that Juror #5’s “apparent reverence for the United States government reses deubts about
the truthfulness of his oath to this Court and to the litigants that he would be a fair artcaimpa
juror,” andcontradics the juror’'s answer of “Yes” tmy question duringoir dire whetherhe
would be “fair and impartial if we asked you to servé®’at 26 see alsdDoc. #142 at 114.
They further argue that the letter demonstrates Juror #5’s disregard of myrynalsgructions
stating that “all litigants arequal before the law” and that jurors should not “consider any
personal feelings you may have about ... wealth, lifestyle, or other features of the padees.”

#143-1 at 27 (quoting jury instructiorfS).

4 Westport and McClure complaihdt the letter’s reference to them being “guilty” and to awaiting a “sentence”
suggests that there is a “serious question whether the jurors understood thatitéinie/assa civil action and not a
criminal one.” Doc. #1443 at 27 n.21. Thaury instructions, however, explained that this case was not a criminal
case and was subject to the burden and standards of proof of a civil case. Doc5#M&abver, Westport and
(continued...)
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A party may obtain a new trial they show ‘thata juror failed to answer honestly a
material question owoir dire, and then further show that a correct response would have
provided a valid basis for a challenge for causé&cDonough Power Equipment, Inc. v.
Greenwood464 U.S. 548, 556 (1984). But Rule 606(b) of the Federal Rules of Evidence strictly
limits the scope of evidence that may be used to prove such dishonesty. The rule provides that
for purposes of “an inquiry into the validity of a verdict or indictment,” a juror may notytestif
“about any statement made or incident that occurred during the pieliberation$ or “the
effect of anything on that juror’s or another juror’s vota,”any juror’s mental processes
concerning the verdict or indictment,” subject to certain exceptions including if Hexiua
prejudicial information was improperly brought to the jury’s attentidimé rule further states
that “[tlhe court may not receive a jui®affidavit or evidence of a jura’statement on these
matters’ >

The limitations of Rule 606(b) have implications for a court’s duty to conduct an inquiry

when confronted with a claim of juror misconduct. As the Se&@iralit has made cleaf, the

McClure s own briefing conflates this case with a criminal case, insisting that their pirgights arise under the
SixthAmendment rather than tigeventtAmendment to the U.S. ConstitutidbeeDoc. #1431 at 25; Doc. #149 at
8-9.

50 Rule 606(b) states in full:
(b) During an Inquiry Into the Validity of a Verdict or Indictment .

(1) Prohibited Testimony or Other Evidence.During an inquiry into the validity of a verdict or
indictment, a juror may not testify about any statement made or incident that datwrirey the jury's
deliberations; the effect of anything on that juror'sanother juror's vote; or any juror's mental processes
concerning the verdict or indictment. The court may not receive a jurodaaffor evidence of a juror's
statement on these matters.

(2) Exceptions.A juror may testify about whether:
(A) extrareous prejudicial information was improperly brought to the jury's attention;
(B) an outside influence was improperly brought to bear on any juror; or

(C) a mistake was made in entering the verdict on the verdict form.
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limits imposed byRule 606(byender inadmissiblthe only known evidence of juror misconduct,
then anyfurtherinquiry into the validity of the jury’s verdias “render[ed] .. . futile from the
start” United States \Baker, 899 F.3d 123, 132 (2d Cir. 201@pllecting cas@ssee also

United States v. lanniell®@66 F.2d 540, 543 (2d Cir. 1989)w]e are always reluctant to haul
jurors in after they have reached a verdiotprobe alleged juror misconduct absesiear,

strong, substantial and incontrovertible evidence ... that a specific, non-specuigtivpriety

has occurreq) (internal quotation omitted)

As an initial matter, | do not agree that Juror #5’s letter shows that Jurors#tishanest
when he stated duringir dire that he could be fair and impartial. So far as the letter reflects,
Juror #5 was very impressed with the strength of the SEGesasai$ was presented at trial. The
letter states nothing to suggest that Juror #5 harbored a pre-existing bias in favoles thre S
the United States government in general. Nor does it suggest that he had decided froratthe outs
to rule against Westport and McClure because of their wealth. The facjubhat may find one
party’s witnesses and evidence to be very persuasive at trial is not indicatite thgor was
biased from the outset in favor of that party.

In any event, the Supreme Court has interpreted Rule 606(b) to preclude the type of
challenge that Westport and McClure make her®vamger v. Shauera traffic accident
plaintiff who lost at trial sought to invalidate the verdict by means of introducing drj@bst-
affidavit from one othe trial jurors that related statements by another juror during jury
deliberations suggesting that the other juror was biased against awarding damag# for tr
accidents574 U.S. 40, 43 (2014Yhe plaintiff argued that this juror's statement meaatt tihe
juror “had deliberately lied duringoir dire about her impatrtiality and ability to award damages.”

Ibid. The Supreme Court rejected the challenge, holding that “Rule 606(b) applies to juror
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testimonyduring a proceeding in which a party seeks to secure a new trial on the ground that a
juror lied duringvoir dire.” 1d. at 44.

The juror’s letteihere is a paradigmatic example of evidebaged by Rule 606(b).
First, the lettediscusses the juror’'s admiration of the SEC’s lawyering and the qualitgiof
experts. This falls within Rule 606(b)’s preclusa@pewhich bars juror testimony about “the
effect of anything on that juror’s or another juror’s vote,” as well as the “pimental processes
concerning the verdict or indictment.” Fed. R. Evid. 606(b). Nibget)etterdescribes how
“[d]uring our deliberations we spoke of many things and McClure’s wife came up,” before
reciting the interchange among jurors about her expensive shoes. Doc. #138. Thus, the letter
makes clear thahe jury’s alleged conversation about McClure’s wife and her shoes occurred
during jury deliberations, which again places this evidence well within the sc&adeof
606(b)’s bar on testimony about “any statement made or incident that occurred during ghe jury’
deliberations.” Fed. R. Evid. 606(b).

Because the juror's complete statement as kaitéhe letter comswithin the subject
matter scope of the rule, thedterfalls within Rule 606(b)’'s command that a “court may not
receive a jurds affidavitor evidence of a juros statemendn these mattersibid. (emphasis
added)ssee also United States v. Cuth#03 F.2d 1381, 1382-85 (11th Cir. 1990) (applying Rule
606(b) to bar consideration of juror's congratulatory letter to prosecutor stating lemtwedfy
prosecutors presented the case and complimenting “the suits & ties you wore & those Argyl

socks too”)>!

51 Although Westport and McClure relywdnited States v. Pars&89 F.3d 832d Cir. 2015), that decision does not
cite or discuss Rule 606(b). Moreover, the facts of that decision are distiridaibleaause it turned not only on a
juror letter to the prevailing attorney but also additiormat-juror-statement evidence amply proving that the juror
had lied about her background durimjr dire. See idat 91 (describing how the juror’s letter “prompted” an
investigation of the juror's background and leading to discovery “of her disciplinarygolings and her status as a
(continued...)
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Westport and McClure invoke the exception to Rule 606(b) for “extraneous prejudicial
information[that] was improperly brought to the jusyattentior’ Fed. R. Evid. 606(b). But
most of the letter relates Juror #5’s impressions@fevidence he saw preseniedhe
courtroomat trial. In no sense was the physical appearance of McClure’s wife “extraneous” in
view of her personal presence at trial addClure’s choice to highlighter presencevhen he
testified®>?

Nor was the allege#i3000 price tag fokMcClure’s wife’sshoes a piece of extraneous
prejudicial information. As the Supreme Court explainedarger, “information is deemed

‘extraneousif it derives from a sourcexternal to the jury,” and “[ekternal matters include
publicity and information related sgécally to the case the jurors are meant to decide, while
‘internal matters include the general body of experiences that jurors are understood to thring wi
them to the jury room.” 574 U.S. at 51. Whether jurors believed the shoes to be Priceline or
Prala, their beliefs about the value of the shoes stemmed from the “internal . . . general body of
experiences” of one or more jurors, experiences that fall outside the exceg®ole i606(b) for
extraneous prejudicial information.

In short, notwithstanding that Juror #5’s comments about McClure and his wife were
tasteless and meapirited, | conclude that the juror’s letter does not furnish any appropriate
grounds for me to conduct a hearing or further inquiry to question the validity of the jury’s
verdict. Accordingly, | will decline to grant a new trial or hearing on the basis of juror

misconduct.

D. Effect of COVID-19 pandemic on trial

suspended lawyer by searching public records”). Here, by contrast, the only evtlaheged juror misconduct is
the juror’s letter itself recounting the juror's mental impressions andrstats during deliberations.

52Doc. #135 at 163 (Tr. 655).
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The jury concluded its deliberations in this case at a time when the COVID-19 pandemi
was rapidly increasing in prominence and starting to lead to widespread socialmisédfucts.
Still, the federal court in New Haven remained open to the public subject to agreeni
requirements through the end of the trial, and there were no jurors who requested to ik excuse
from jury service because of the pandemi@ny indication in the record that the jurors rushed
their verdict. Westport and McClure never moved for a mistrial, and even nowrthement
about the effect of the pandemic on the jury’s verdict is nedirted: “vhile Defendants do not
contend now that the arrival of the Coronavirus alone entitles them to a new trial, they do
vigorously maintain that a verdict unsupported by substantial evidence and infected by guror bia
as discussed above is subject to additisnaltiny because of the circumstances in which it was
derived.” Doc. #143-1 at 29. | conclude that the COVID-19 pandemic, whether alone or in
combination with any other factors at issue in this case, does not warrant the gramw ofia.ne

CONCLUSION

For the foegoing reasons, the Court DENIES defendants’ motion for judgment as a
matter of lawpursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 60in the alternativéheir motion fora new trial
pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 59. It is so ordered.

Dated at New Haven thixth day of October 22D.

sl Jeffrey Alker Meyer

Jeffrey Alker Meyer
United States District Judge
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